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marble top. It was sent from “Braxted Magna,” County of Essex, Eng-
land, to Captain John Aylett (or Ayloffe), founder of the Aylett family in
Virginia, who arrived in that colony in the year 1656 While at “Fair-
field” many a noled guest has been seated by it among whom were the
brothers, Richard Henry and Thomas Ludwell Lee, both having married
pretty Aylett girls; Generalr Washington and his wife, 2 kinswoman of
the “Fairfield” family; George Mason, Patrick Henry and the young
Frenchman, Lafayette. My grandmother Aylcit told e that while under
her roof General Washington had cut watermelons on it, and after its
removal to "Fontainebleau,” I learn from my faiher, that your honored
sire, Mr. Editor, before he was President of the United States, and Gor-
ernor Gilmer, his Secretary of the Navy, once cut the luscious fruit on
this old table. Among other carvers of the melon at “Fontaineblean’
were the dear old Colonel Skyren and the Hon. Edmund Ruffin, who
fired the first gun at Fort Sumter, and after the table's removal to Greens-
boro, N, C,, the genial and lovable James Barton Hope, the poet, in line
followed Washington. Two legs and the marble top of the old table were
broken; but under the hands of a skilful cabinetmaker of Louisville, Ky.,
it has regained the heauty with which two hundred and fifty-four years
ago it started fromr its old home in the County of Essex, England, to find
across the broad Atlantic its young master located in Westmoreland
county, Colony of Virginia.

The portrait of Mrs, Macon has recently been beautifully copied by
Mr, John Elliott Jenkins, of Austin, Tex,, a pupil for several years of the
eminent French masters, Lefebvre, Courtois and Meizsonier.

770

MOORE. The foliowing records of the above-named family have
never before been published, They are woefully incomplete and anyone
who can shed any light on them is asked to communicate with H. V.
Moore, 747 Graydon D'ark, Norfolk, Virginia. Most of these records
arc taken from ihe family Bible in the possession of the above-named,
Somcd points bave beern cleared by research. Others have been sug-
gested,

It is thought that this Bible is not the original but one started about
1820 and that the original is now in the poseceston of another branch
of the family. Any inlormation would be appreciated.

The first record is that of the death of FElizabeth Moore on Jan-
uary 13, 1820. Reference to the American Deacon uader date of Jan-
uary 15 1820, shows that she left two sons: Captain Horatio Moore
of Portsmouth, Virginia, and William Moore of Norfolk Borough.
Elizabeth Moore was eighty-nine years of age at her death and was
born in 1731.

So far, research has failed to throw any light on this Horatio Moore
or possible descendants. Records, however, would scem to indicate
that his wife's Christian name was Elizabeth,

William Mocre was born in 1770 and died at Norfolk Borough,
August 5, 1834, His place of birth is not known neither is his place
of burial. On his death, he was buried from the residence of C. W.
Bray at Town Bridge (Norfolk) He married Sarah (). A deed
recorded in the Norfolk Counfy Court concerning the sale of Jproperty
between Williamsburg and Yorktown reads as follows “William
Moore and Sarah his wife and heirs of the dec’d Thomas Wharton”

Sarah Moore was born in 1767 and died at Norfolk Borough March
19, 1822. Place of burial unknown.

William and Sarah Moore left five children:

1. Sarah (Sally).

2. Elizabeth (Betsy).

3. Ann (Nancy).

4. Thomas.

5. Horatio.

Nothing can be learned of Sarah Moore,

Elizabeth (or Betsy) Moore married a Bray (possibly C. W.3. It
is known that she lfeft descendants named Bray and Maynard. She
died July 7, 1822, DPlace of burial unknown.

Ann Moore was born January 29, 1807. Beyond that nothing can
be learned,

Thomas Moore was born in 1799 at Portsmouth, Virginia, and dicd
in Norfolk Borough some time between Pecember 24, 1854 and Feb-
ruary 13, 1866. He was a tatner by frade and at one time was
interested in a tannery near Williamsburg, Virginia. Place of burial
is not certain but possibly in an unmarked grave in Elmwood Ceme-
tery, Norfolk, Virginia., He was married twice.

. On December 25, 1819, he married Mary Ann Bunting of Nor-
folk Borough. She was born in 1800 and died at Norfolk Borough
April 14, 1854, There was one child by this union, Sarah Catherine,
born December 11, 1820. Nothing is known of any further offspring
nor what happened to this one. The burial place of either mother or
child is unknown,

2, On December 24, 1854, Thomas Moore married Jane Durfey
who was then twice a widow. Her maiden name was Jane Spratley.
She had maryied (1) Rev. Ira Cowles (or Coles) (2) Willlam Durfey.
She died in Norfolk, Virginia, August 27, 1876, at the age of 77, and
was buried in an unmarked grave in Elmwood Cemeterv, Norfolk, Vir-
ginia, where she owned a quarter of a fot. As both Jane Durfey and
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Thomas Moore were fifiy-five years of age at the time of their marriage
it is doubtful if there were any issue.

Horatio Moore was born February 20, 1799 and died at Norlolk,
Virginia, August 21, 1855, He purchased a lot in Cedar Grove Cemec-
tery, Norfolk, Virginia, where he is buricd. On June 18, 1822, he
married Martha Charlotte Kaeffer (daughter of Captain Michael Kaef-
fer and, possibly Lois W. Kaeffer, although tradition states that this
was a stepmother.) Michael Kaeffer was a ship captain, his ship the
schooner Ann Maria.

Martha Kaeffer Moore was born in 1803 and died October 21, 1859,
at Norfolk, Virginia. Burial in Cedar Grove Cemcicery,

This union was very prolific, there being cleven children,  Burial,
unless otherwise indicated, was in Cedar Grove Cemctery, Norfolk,
Virginia.

1. Sarah Anne Moore 6. Horatio Stammers Moore
2. Addeline Moore 7. Henry Virginius Moore

3. Virginia Caroline Moore 8. Addie Virginia Moore

4, William Michael Moore 9. Alexiene Cunningham Moorg
5. Sarah Elizabeth Moore 1¢. James Joseph Moore

11, Walter Bray Moote
Sarah Ann Moore was born April 7, 1823 and died September 18,

4,
1szsAr:ldeline Moore was born March 28, 1825 and died November 21,

Virginia Caroline Moore was born October 4, 1825 and died De-
ember 6, 1831,

William Michael Moore was born December 16, 1828 and died
September 7, 1855. So far as is known he never married.

arah Elizabeth Moore was born January 6, 1831 and died Decem-

ber 2, 1831.

Horatio Stammers Moore was born November 27, 1832 and died
June 14, 1873, So far as known, he never married.

Addie Virginia Moore was born in 1837, She married A. B.
Prentiss of Petersburg, Virginia, where she lived until she died on
January 20, 1912, at the age of 75 years. She is buried in Blandford
Cemetery, that city. A tablet has been placed on the wall of the
Sunday School room of the Washington Street Methodist Church to
her memory on account of her work among the children of that place.
No descendants.

5 liglseoxiene Cunningham was born August 12, 1840 and died October
James Joseph was born February 4, 1843 and died June 28, 1849,
Walter Bray was born September 17, 1846 and died October 3, 1846,
Henry Virginius Moore was born April 10, 1855 and died March

3, 1886. He married Julia Smith Fatherly (daughter of Julia Anne

Folkes and Captain John Smith Fatherly) on November 14, 1860.

Captain Fatherly was also a ship captain being captain of both The

Seabird and The Star and the first man to pilot the York River.

July Smith Fatherly was born in 1844 and died at Norfolk, Virginia,
July 26, 1931.

There were six children by this marriage.

1. Addie Aurelia (born 1861—died 1916).

2. Woodbury Langdon.

3. Lizzie McCullough.

4. Lottic Bray.

5. James Gilmer (born 1873—died 1873).
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6. Ethel Anderson. .

Addiec Aurclia married J. 5. Rogers and left children. .

Lizzie McCullough married Thos. Q. Winingder of Notfolk, Vir-
ginia, and has children. .

Lottic Bray marricd C. II. Banks and still lives in Norfolk, Vir-
ginia. She has one daughter. .

Iithel Anderson married I1. M. Mackan, She now lives in Nor-
folk, Virginia, and has children.

Woodbury Langdon married Cassandra Deans Cory, daughter of
Marth Fley Blanchard and William Heney Harrison Cory. He was
born July 14, 1866 and dicd Seplemiber 2, 1925, He left five children as
follows.

Henry Virginius Moore.

William Cory Moore.

Margaret Kaeffer Moore,

Woodbury Langdon Moore.

Robert Folkes Moore.

Henry Virginius Moore is unmarried and lives in Norfolk, Va.

William Cory Moore married Margaret Hogue, of Camden, South
Carolina, and is now living at that place.

Margaret Kaeffer Moore married Milton Lee Nash and is now
living in Norfolk, Virginia,

Woodbury Langdon Moore, unmarried, a graduate of Virginia
Polytechnic Institute, is now living at Norfolk, Virginia.

Robert Folkes Moore, unmarried, will graduate from the U. S,
Military Academy, West Point, in June 1932—H. V. Moote

B o P
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NOTES ON SOME MOORE AND FRENCH FAMILIES IN VIR-
GINIA AND CAROLINA IN THL COLONIAL PERIOD,

By Whnaiam Cabrre Moone,
I

THE MOORES OF NORTHERN VIRGINIA.

The following notes relating to some of the Moore and Trrench {amilics
of Tidewater and northern Virginia and of casternn Carolina in the Colonial
period were made in a search for juformation concorning the ancestors of
Jeremiahh Moore, of “Moorefichl,” Vairfax county, Virginia, who was born
in or near Dumfries, in Prince William county, Virginia in 17461, Ry
no means ail the available records that might throw light on the early
Moore and French families in Virginia and the Carolinas have been studied,
but considérable time was spent in collecting these notes, and they may be
of value to future investigators.

Among Jeremiah Moore’s descendants are two traditions with respect
to his ancestry. One story relates that he was the grandson of John Moore,
who came to America from the northern part of Ireland about 1700, and
located first in South Carolina; the other, that he was descended from a
John Moore who in 1620 came to Virginia from England and settied in
Elizabeth City county.

Meantion of his parents hy name has not been found in the records of
his time, but it has been understood in the family that the father of Jere-
miah was named William Moore, and his mother, Angelina French Moore,
and it seems reasonably certain that his parents were living in Prince
William county in 1746, the year of his birth, for, as stated above, Jeremiah
was born there, and he himsclf lived there during his youth, he married a
Prince William comty girl and when he was first grown he was a lay-
reader in the Episcopal Church on Quantico in Prince William. Mrs.
Kate D. Berryman, of Washington, a descendant of Jeremiah, has examined
many of the old court records and other records in Prince William (and
adjoining counties) and has found occasional mention of a William Moore,
a Jesse Moore (Jeremiah named his oldest son Jesse} and of Jeremiah
Moore in lists of voters, witnesses and other records in Prince William, but
whether this William Moore was the father of Jeremiah is not ksown. The
writer was told it 1932 by one of Jeremiah’s great-grandsona that he had
heard that Jeremiah's father was at onc time a post-rider or mail-carricr, but
no rceord has been found to verify this statement,

The name of Jeremiah's mother was not known to the writer until
recently, when Mrs. Jessie Virginia Elgin Ritchey (Mrs. Charles A.
Ritchey), of New York, and her sister, Mrs. Mary Elgin Mann, of Balti-
more, stated in an affidavit given to the writer that they had been in-
formed personally by their grandfather, George Washington Hunter Smith
(1812-1896), who was a grandson of Jeremiah, that the mother of Jere-
tniah was named Angelina French, and that this was the reason Jere-
miah’s eldest daughter was named “Angelina French Moore”, and the ex-
planation for the name “French” occurring in the given names of two of
his other daughters and one of his sons, and in the pames of children of
several of his children (Francis and Margaret) and for being handed

1iMoore, Francis: "Sketch of the Life of Jeremiah Moore,” in an
Obftuary Notlce, publlshed in The Latter Day Luminary, Phila, 1818,
vol. 1, pp. 518-520; and alse in “Virginia Baptist Minlaters,”" by James
B. Tayltor, 1at Berles, 3rd Ed., Sheldon & Co., N. Y., 1860, p. 216, Francia
Moore was a son of Jeremlah Moore.
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down to a recent time in Mrs. Ritchey's family. The name Ange
French is mmusual, but one other person with this name having been fa
in a search through many articles and books in the Library of Cong
relating to the French family, an Angelina Freneh who was born in 3
near Canden, N, J.2 There were several familics named French living
the Northert Neck and in Northern Virginia in the time of Jeremiah,
up to the present a scarch for data relating to these families has}
brought to light a single maiden named Angelina Trench, i

Court recards in Fairfax, Prince William, Stafford, Spotsylvania, E
George, Westmoreland and Richimond cotties during the period priot
1800 reveal no evidence of an Angelina Fronch or of a William Moore 4
had a wile named Angelinn Freneh, or of any carly Moore who catl:
definitely connected with Jeremial, but many records 9 these countics %
;Iet;stroyed or lost during the War between the States and there is i
eft.

Famwrax County,

Fairfax county was formed from Prince William in 1742, There}
no court records in Fairfax throwing light on the ancestry of Jerem
though there are a few records in the Clerk’s office in which Jeremiah h
self is mentioned. Jeremiah leit Prince William in 1773, when he ¥
twenty-seven vears of age, and settled in Fairfax county on Difficuit
Some years later he moved to "Moorefield” near Vienna., He wai
farmer as well as a preacher, and was evidently a good business man,
he left a fair sized estate for his time. It is possible that when in 1
he became a Baptist and entered actively upon preaching this faith, 1l
outlawed‘, he became estranged from his family, for he prompHy md
from Prince William and his son, Francis, says in a sketch of Jeremia
life* that after becoming a Baptist he “lost the friendship of many
his former friends, all of whom belonged to the Episcopal Church,
some of whom were enemies of the Daptists” His parents and of
members of the family may alse have given him up. :

There are two Meore wills in the Fairfax county Clerk’s office
corded prior to 1800:

1. The will of William Moore (Will Book C, No. 1, p. 66), d4
Angust 17, 1769, proved October 16, 1769, names his wife, Mg
his sons, James and Samucl, and daughters, Sarah Littlejohn, M|
Bucklin and Ann Tyler. Onc of the witnesses is Cleon Moord
The inventory of his estate (Will Book C, No. 1, p. 92), returi
November 19, 1770, lists sfaves and other property valued at aly

500 pounds, and Heary Moore is mentioned among others jnde
to the estate.

2, The will of Henry Moore (whether the Henry mentioned above
not known} (Will Book C, No, 1, p. 149), dated May 17, 1?
proved April 19, 1773, names him “of the town of Colcheslﬁ
speaks of hiz wife but does not call her by name, and names &
Cleon and Gato, the latter under age, daughters, Susannah,
of George Summers, Sarah, Jane King and Ann Primer, and mafi
also Mrs. Hannah Brent and her brother, Mt. Thomas Neale.

His inventory (Will Book C, No. 1, p. 176), returned October
1773, lists property valued at over 1300 pounds.

2F‘rsnch Howard B.: “Genhealogy n! the Descendants of Tho
French,” vnl. 2, p. 264, privately printed in Phila., In 1913
33¢e footnote No. 1.
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Neithe: the above mentioned William Moore nor MHenry Moore ap-
parently has any relation to the family of Jercmiah,

Prince WitLiam CouNTty.

In Prince Wiltiam county formed from Stafford and King George in
1731, the court records begin in 1732, No will in the name of Moore, dated
prior to 1800 is to be found now in these records. The only items in the
name of Moore, dated prior to 1800 to be found there now are:

1. Deed Book H, p. 58, Dec. 29, 1731, James Moore, yecoman, binds
himself to serve John Nicholson, merchant, for seven years, on con-
dition that Nicholson pay for Moore's passage to Virginia, and it
is noted that the said James Moore “arrived within the Capes of
Virginia April 18" (1732).

2. Same, p. 191, Nov. 24, 1733, William More, planter, leases f{rom
George Mason a tract of land on the Potomac river in the parish of
Truro. In the lease are mentioned William More's wife, Mary,
and his son James, but no others.

3. Bond Book, 1753-86, p. 31, March 27, 1758, a William Morc is
mentioned as one of the executors of the will of Gabriel Moffett.

4, Deed Book Q, p. 272, April 1, 1765, William Moore and Margaret,
his wife, of the county of Prince William leased from John Bay-
liss, a piece of property in the town of Dumiries. This lease was
sealed and delivered in the presence of Thomas Attwell, Lewis
Reno and George Carter. On the next page is recorded the re-
lease of this property April 2, 1765

5. Deed Book U (XX), page 306, May 7, 1782, Foushee Tebbs gives
to his daughter, Margaret, wife of Cleon Moore, two slaves named
Charlotte and George.

6. Deed Book X, p. 32, June 4, 1787, Daniel Moore and Hannah, his
wife, purchase a tract of land frotn a man named Johnston. Later
Daniel mortgages this land to his brother Joseph, of West Jersey,

In the above mentioned notes we find mention of two men named
William Moore. One, in 1733, had a wife named Mary, and a son named
James. This suggests no refationship with “our” William. In the other
record, wherein the wife is named Margaret, a William Moore in 1765
leases a piece of property in Dumiries from John Bayliss and onc of the
witnesses is Lewis Reno. The names here suggest somc association, for
our Jeremiah Moore married in 1765 Lydia Renno (or Reno) the daughter
of Francis Réwno and Elizabeth Bayliss Renno. Irancis Renno was the
son of Lewis Renno and had a brother named Lewis, and also a cousin of
the satne name. Jeremiah Moore was born in Prince William county in
1746, and his mother was living in 17714 While we think Jerermuah's
mother was named Angelina French and he named his first daughter
Angelina French, it is not certain that his mother was named Angelina.
He named another daughter Margaret French. The name Margaret, oc-
curs frequently in the French families of that period.

The Vestry Book of Dettingen Parish, Prince William county, 1745-
1802, now in the Archives Division of the State Library in Richmond,
shows that Jeremiah Moore was one of the lay readers of the church on
Quantico, near Dumfries, but offers no suggestion concerning his ancestry.

4See footnote No. 1.
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Srarrorn County.

In Stafferd county, formed from Westmoreland in 1664, the following
references to records made prior to 1800 under the name “Moore” are to
be found in the Clerk's office:

1. Book marked “1664-1693," p. 21, March 13, 1689/90, a John Moore
13 mentioned as administrator of Edward Sandos.

2. Same, Nov. 9, 1692, it is “ordered that a cow and yearling heifer
which did properly belong to the estate of John Moore, dec’d, be
appraised.”

3. Will Book Z, 1699-1709, p. 167, gives the inventory of James
Moore, dec’d, dated 1702 (orme carbine, one horse, bridle and
saddle), which was sworn to- by his wife Honoh Moore.

4. Book marked 1729-1748 (recently returned from the North, where
it was taken during the War between the States) p. 249, June 9
1737, contains the inventory of Richard Moor's cstate.

5. Same, p. 273, contains the executor's acct. signed by Edw. Doane,
and Mary his wife, administrators of Richard Moor.,

None of these Stafford county items suggests any association with our ’

subject, The Stafford county Clerk's office has record books alsa for the
years 1748-1763 and 1780-1789, but no records for the years 1764-1779.

There is no Moore will and no other reference to a person named Moore |

in the years prior to 1800 for which there are records.

The Parish Register of Overwharton Parish in Stafferd, 1720-1760, 5

now in the Archives Division of the State Library in Richmond, also con-
tains no information that seems to offer a lead.

SrorsyLvanNta Counry.,

In Spotsylvania county, formed in 1721 from Essex, King William and |

King and Queen, the court records begin in 1722, and the following refer-
ences prior to 1800 under the name Moore were the only ones found:

1. Wilt Book A--~1722-1749. Photostat copy of the will of Samuel
Moor, dated Feb. 2, 1725/26, probated Apr. 5, 1728, mentions wife
Rache]l and son Robert.

2, Will Bock B, p. B5—Photostat copy of will of Robert Moo,
dated Feb. 12, 1750, probated Dec. 3, 1751, mentions wife Rosanna,
three eldest sons, Samucl, John and Robert, son George and son
l'!r:%mfa's', the youngest, "not yet baptized,” and his “loving mother

chel.

3. Will Book B, p. 392. Photostat copy of bond given Dee. 5§ 1758,
by Bernard Moore and others, executors of John Spotswood dec'd.
(Bernard Moore was the son of Augustine More, of “Chelsea,”
and the son-in-law of Governor Alexander Spotswood, an older
brother of John Spotswood).

4. Will Book E, part 1, p. 167, Photostat copy of hond given Jan,
16, 1777, by Alice Moore, John Herndon and Shadrack Moore, £x-
ecutors of John Moore, dec’d.

None of these Spoisylvania items suggests any assocfation with our

subject. There is the will of a John Moore recorded in Spotsylvania in
1790, but this also has no relation to Jeremiah,
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FREDERICKSDURG.

In the Clerk’s office in Fredericksburg, where there are no records
prior to 1782, the only early reference recorded in the name of Moore is
the record of the will of Col. Francis Moore, of Orange County, dated
August 15, 1792, probated May 13, 1799, in which are mentioned, sons
Reuben, Francis, dec'd, Bernard, dec'd, daughtcr Sarah Spencer, wile
of Jos. Spencer, granddaughter, Lucy Barbour Gaines, Mary Price, wife
of Wm. Price, Annt Thomas, and a brother, Harbin. This Francis was ap-
patently an old man when he dicd sometime between 1792 and 1798, and
he left a large estate.  He may have been related to Col, Augustine More, of
“Chelsea” in King William counly, who also had 2 son mamed Berpard,
Col. Augustine More, of “Chelsea” died in 1743, He lcft no surviving son
nanted Francis, nor did he have any surviving child born prior to 1714,
His first wife and her only child died in 1713.2  Jeremiah Moore named
his second son Francis but it is presumed that this Francis was named
for his maternal grandfather, Francis Renno.

King Georce CounTy.

King George county was formed in 1721, but there are no records of
Wills in the Clerk's office prior to 1752, the Will books for the period 1721
to 1752 having been carried off or destroyed during the War between the
States, so the Clerk said. There were found here:

1. The will of John Moore (W, B. 1, p. 109}, dated July 29, 1758,
proved Dec, 6, 1759; mentions his wife, Rebecca, a son William, a
daughter Jane Taylor, and twa of his executors, Erasmus Taylor
and James Madison.

2. The will of Rebecca Moore {(W. B. 1, p. 115), dated Nov. 6, 1759,
proved Mar. 6, 1760, mentions her late husband, John Moore, son
William Moore, who was then under age, dau, Nellie Madison,
son Francis Conway, and Sarah his wife, grandsons, James Madi-
son, Jr, Francis and Ambrose Madison, Francis and Catlett Con-
way, granddaughter Mary Conway, nicce Mary Gillison, wife of
John Gillison, and Jane Taylor, wife of Erasmus Taylor,

A photostat copy of the Parish Register of St. Paul's Parish, King
George county, for the years 1716 to 1793, was examined carefully for the
vears 1716 through 1746, the year of Jeremiah Moore's birth, and hurricdly
thereafter. It is all difficult to decipher and parts of it are impossible to
read, but in the lists of many births and marriages recorded, and the few
deaths mentioned, not a single person with the name Moore or French
was encountered. This book is in the possession of Mr. Cartwright, the
Episcopal minister living in King George Courthouse, who kindly per-
mitted it to be examined. There 1s a copy in the State Library in Rich-
mond.

WESTMORELAND COUNTY.

. The will of John Moore, of Copley Parish (W. B. 8, p. 270, copied

in W. B. 8 vol. 2, p. 336), dated Jaa, 4, 1733/4, proved Nov. 25,
1735; mentions son William, to whom he leaves all his wearing
apparel, Alice Garland, (o whon he Icaves a silver tumbler, and his
friend Jeremiah Garland, to whom be lcaves everything else and
whom he appoints executor,

. The will of Willlam Moore (W. B. 8, p. 328, copied in W. B. 8,

vol. 2, p. 533), dated Juné 28, 1736, proved Jan, 30, 1737; mentions
his wilc Alice, who is named exccutrix, son William, to whom
he leaves land, a feather bed, tovis, gun, hicifer and yearling, dau.
Jane Creswick, to whom he leaves land, daw. Elizabeth, to whom
he leaves a fcather bed and a cow and calf, other children not
named but mentioned as his “other children”, with whom his wife,
Alice, is to divide the rest of his estate, This will is signed with
William Moore’s mark in the presence of Wm. Grove and Wm.
Moor, the latter signing also with his marlk.

. The will of Thomas Moore (W, B. 9, p. 234}, dated Dec. 17, 1741,

proved Awg, 31, 1742; mentions son William, to whom he leaves
one half his land and a riding mare, son Thomas, to whom he
leaves the other half of his land and the houses thereon, dau, Sarah,
to whom he leaves a fecather bed and furniture. His son Thomas
is made executor, and the will is witnessed by John Self and Wil-
liam Grove.

. The will of Thomas Moore, of the Parish of “Cople” (W. B. 11,

p. 193), dated Feb. 4, 1749/50, proved Apr. 24, 1750, mentions his
wife, Winifred, and sons, Thomas and James, his children heing
under age, as one is to go to Mr. Thomas McFarlane till he comes
of age, the other to remain with his wife, to whom he leaves his
property during her lifetime, Mr. Thomas McFarlane and his wife
being named executors. He signs with his mark and the witnesses
are James Clark and Frazier Wright.

. The will of Robert Moore (W, B, 14, p. 122}, dated Dec. 5, 1761,

proved Mar. 30, 1762, mentions wife Elizabeth, to whom he leaves
his plantation for her lifctime, sons, John and Robin, and dau.
Eleanor, and speaks of children “under age,” without naming them.
Hiz wife and son John are made executors, and the will is wit-
nessed by Danicl Baley, John Baley and Wm, Crenswick,

. The will of Jane Moorc (W. B. 16, p. 96), dated Sept. §, 1775,

recorded but date of probate not given: mentions son James, dau.
Dorcas, a Hannah Moore, a Jane Larkin Moore, a Sammy Larkin
Moore, whose relationship is not stated, and a son Garland, who
is named executor. She signs with ler mark, and the witnesses
are Wm. Rigmaiden, Molly Parker and Wm. Smith,

In Westmoreland county Inventory book Mo, 2, which covers the years

Wesimoreland county was formed in 1653. Here were found:
1746-1752, and which is not indexed, were found:

1. The will of T;mn;as Moore (W}.’_B. 5,f p.MISS), datc:dhf"ebi-l 5, 1733;
proved May 17, 1713; mentions his wife Margaret, whom he ma i, An auditor’s re . .

; 0 . port, dated Nov. 13, 1746, reporting an audit to
executrix, sons, Wiltiam and Thomas, and dau. Margaret, undeg settle a dispute between the childten of William Moore, dec'd, and
age. John Self, who had married William's relict, Elizabeth Moore.

sClerk's omclez,?F{';iierlcksburg: “Bonds, Wlilla and Inventorles, 17389~ | This William Moore's will was not found recorded.
-3 - . . *
ISSIEVAa.SfMagP'-Hlst. and Biog. Vol 25, (October, 1917}, pp. 433, at seq.: 2. %téoa[gglﬁiu :?c{ ghgren?alz{?ioﬁ 5 ;ifvaaiej ordered by court, Apr, 20,

sep also, Campbell, Charles: ‘Gienealogy of the Spotswood Family,” Al-
bany, 1868; and W. & M. C. Q. vol. 19, (1910-11), p. 177.%

*For p. 17T see p. 763, thiz volume, 29
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Ricamonp County,

In Richmond county, organized in 1692, were found no Moore wills,
prior to 1765, the only Moore wills prior to 1800, being:

1. The will of Garland Moore (W. B. 6, p. 389), dated 1765; men-
tions wile, Anne, sons, Robert, Garland and Peter, and “daugh-
ter” (probably meaning son) Mathew Moore. His wife and his
friend William Garland were named executors.

2. The will of Robert Moore (W, B. 7, p. 350), dated June 12, 1779,
proved Oct, 4, 1779; mentions wife, Anue, and children under age,
none by name,

Here was found also:

The inventory of John Moore (W. B. 7, p. 483), ordered by Court,
Apr. 6, 1784, returned Apr. 4, 1785, and amounting to £12-10-6,

Nothing pointing definitely to a relationship to Jeremiah Moore was
found in the early Wiil books in King George, Westmoreland and Rich-
mond counties, or in the Parish Register of St. Paul's Parish, King George
county, 1716-1793. The court Order books and other court records were
not examined.

IL
THE MQORES OF TIDEWATER.

There is no known record to prove that Jeremiah Moore, of “Moore-
field,” in Fairfax county, was descended from W
Elizabeth City county, Virginia, in 1620, but this fradi n

anded down i one branch of the Tamily, and 2 definite statement to this
effect is contained in a letter? to the writer from Mrs. Charles A. Ritchey,
of New York, a great, great granddaughter of Jeremiah. Mrs. Ritchey
states that her grandfather, George Washington Hunter Smith {1812-18%6),
who spent the last years of his life in her father’s house, frequently spoke
of his family and his Moore ancestry, and that she tnade notes at the
time of what he said. He told her that his grandfather, Jeremiah Moore,
was the son of William Moore and Angelina French Moore and that
Wiltiam Moore had a brother Daniel and a sister Martha, who married a
Dixoen, and that he thought that they were the childrén of Augustine Moore
and his wife Mary Woolley Moore, of Elizabeth City county. Mrs.
Ritchey's mother also told her that she remembered relatives named Dixon
and some named Goodwin, It is known that the above mentioned Au-
gustine Moore had a sister named Elizabeth who married John Goodwin,

Mrs. Ritchey having heard these things from her grandfather, and
seeing in the “Baltimore Sun” of May 27, 19065 an article by Jane
Grifath Keys, on “The Moore Family in Virginia,” in which the names
William Mgore, Danie] Moore and Martha Dixon, children of Augustine

Moore and Mary Woolley Mogre, of Elizabeth Cify cenr with
msﬁ'ﬁmﬂg_mr-dtsmﬁm‘&john core_who_ca :

1620, wiataralty conciuded that Jeremiah was descended from this John
“Moore.—

But it is certain that William Moore, the brother of Daniet Moore

1Letter, dated May 13, 1932, to the writer. Mra. Ritchey and her
alster, Mrs. Mary Elgin Mann, of Baltimore, also made an afidavit to

the same effect, June 30, 1932, and gave It to the writer.
8This paper may be seen in the Periodical Room, Library of Con-

Eress, Washington, D. C.
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and Martha Dixon, and the son of Augustine Moore and Mary Woolley
Moore, of Elizaheth City county, and a descendant of John Moore who sct-
tled in Elizabeth City county in 1620, was not the father of Jeremiah Moore,
who was born in 1746, for this William Moore had another brother named Au-
gustine, who died in 1737, who in his will written in 1736,° proved in 1737,
left property to a nephew and nicce, children of "my brother William now
deceased.”

There are several mis-statements in the article by Mrs, Keys, She
calls John Moore, who settled in Elizabeth City county in 1620, “Captain,”
and states that he was Burgess for Isle of Wight in 1652-54, but John
Moore, of Jilizabeth City county is not known to have had a title amd
was an entirely different person from “Captain” John Moore, of lsle of
Wight, who scrved in the House of Burgesses in 1652-54,

Mrs. Keys states also that Augustine More, wheo built the “Chelsea”
house in King William county, was the son of Daniel Moore, son of Au-
gustine Moore and Mary Waoclley Moore, and a descendant of John Moore,

of Elizabeth City county, and es that this John Moo s descende
from Sir Thoma, d High Chancellor of England, in the reign
C-——'H—Li%gib“t there 15 no proot™hat John ﬁuorc, of ElizabeE

ity county was descended from Sir Thomas More, the Lord High Chan-
cellor, and it is questionable whether Augustine More, who built “Chel-
sea,” was a descendant of John Moore, of Elizabeth City county, and it is
certain that Augustine More, who built “Chelsea” was not the son of Daniel
Moore, son of Augustine Moore and Mary Woolley Moore,

This Daniel Moore had a son named Auwgustine but this Augustine,
the son of Daniel, was born in 1731,1¢ bought “Temple Farm” near York-
townn in 1762 from his brother-in-law, Robert Smith,11 znd lived there
until his death in 1788, while on reliable authorityl2? the Augustine More,
who built “Chelsea,” was born in England about 1685, came to Virginia
about 1705, built “Chelsea” thereafter, living there fo his death in 1743,
and is biried there.

Dr, Lyon G. Tyler statest® that the Moore families of Elizabeth
City, York and King William, in whom the name Augustine appeared to
be a family name, were probably all descended from Augustine Moore
who patented land in 1652, presumably the son of John Moore who came
to Virginia in 1620, But Augustine (2), the son of this John and John's
only son so far as known, had only two sons, so far as the record shows,
Augustine, Jr., (3) and Jobn (3). Jolm (3) named no children in his
will, proved Jan. 19, 1715-16,'% so apparently was childless. Awgustine,
Jr. (3), the grandson of John, the immgrant, is the Augustine Moore who
married Mary Woolley and they had a number of sons and among them a
son named Augustine (4), the one who died in 1737, This Augustine (4)
it his will proved in Elizabeth City county in 1737, named no wife nor
children of his own, and must have been childless when the will was written,
So, clearly, unless Augustine (2), the son of John Moore the immigrant,

8A photostat copy of the will of Augustine More, of Ellzabeth City
county may be seen in the Clerk's office In Hampton.

10Tyler, Dr. Lyon G.: W. & M. €. Q. vol. 2 (July, 1893), p. 14
(footnote): also, W, & M. C, Q., vol. 9, {October, 1900), p. 126, Notes
on the “Moore Family,” In an article on '"Ola ﬁmotxghtan.“ author’s
name not given, probably the edltor, Doctor Tyler. %
lsgs;LTle;, Dr. L. G.: "Temple Farm,” W. & M. C. Q., vol, 2 (July,

P 14,

12Va., Mag.s Hizst. and Biog., vol 4, p. 436; vol. 25 (Oct, 1917), p, 433;
W. & M. C. Q., vol. 14 (April, 1908), p. 266 (note); vol. 16 (Qct.,, 1907},
p. 122: vol. 17 (July, 1908}, p. 42; wvol. 1% (Jamn., 1811}, F 177: also,
Campbell, Charles: “Genea[ngy of the Spotswond Family,” Albany,
1868, p. 28; and Lancaster, Robt, A, Fr.: “Historic Virginla Homes and
Churches,” J. P. Lipplucott Co., Phila., 1916, p. 268, %%

1BW, & M. C. Q., vol. 2 (July, 1893}, p. 14, fefek

1+4W. & M. C. Q. vol. 8§, No. 2 (October, 1897), supplement, p. 167.

SFar p. 126 pee Volume V of this wark, p. 658.
**For pp. 122 and 49 see pp. 753 and 768, this volume.
++#See Volume II of this work, p. 574,
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had another son of whom nothing is known at this time, Augustine More,
of “Chelsea,” could not bave been descended from him,

The descendants of Augustine More, of “Chelsca,” claim®s that he
was born in England and that he was sixth in descent from Sir Thomas
More, the Lord Iligh Chancellor of England in the reign of Henry VIIL
Sir Thomas More's home ncar London was calied "“Chelsca,” Ilcnce
the name “Chelsea’” of Augustine More's home in Virginia. This Augus-
tine More’s tombstone at “Chelsea,” tn King William county, is said fto
have the coat-ofl-arms of Sir Thomas More engraved upon it. Also Ao-
gustine More of “Chelsea” usually spelled his name with one “e,” “More,”
as didd Sir Thomas More. Augustine More (4), of Llizabeth City connty,
who is descended from John Moore, the immigrant, in signing his will also
spelled his name with one 0" John Moore, the immigrant, pamed his
only son Augustine and there were one or more Augustines in each of the
next two or three generations, so it would look as if there may have
been a relationship between this family and the family of Augustine More
of “Chelsea,” in King William county, as Doctor Tyler inferred, but, if so,
it probably goes back to England. Possibly they were both descended from a
common ancestor there. There were other Augustine Moores in Virginia
in the early days, one who patented 650 acres of land on the “Peayanke-
tank” river in 1652,18 who may or may not have been the son of John, the
}gg(s} immigrant, and one whose inventory was recorded in Northampton in

17

Mrs. Keys evidently got some of her data on the Moore Family from
the note on the “Moore Family” published in an article on “Old Kecough-
tan,” already rteferred to.'® This note reads as follows:

“MOORE FAMILY. The Moore family begins with John Moore, who
patented 285 acres in Elizabeth City county in 1638. He came to Virginia.
in the “Bona Nova" in 1620, at the age of thirty-six. His wife, Elizabeth
Moore, came in the “Abigail” in 1622. They were living at Elizabeth City')
in 1625 (Hotten), In 1676 Augustine Moore (2) of the Old Poquoson,
Elizabeth City, patented the land formerly granted to his father, John
He married, perhaps twice, first Anne, named in a land grant in 1652,
and second, Elizabeth, named in Elizabeth City county records.  Augus-
tine Moore (2} died before 1688, He had tssue (1) John, (2) LElizabeth,
who married Captain John Goodwin, (3) Capt. Augustine Moore, one of
the justices of Elizabeth City county, who probably married Mary Wool-
ley, since his wife, Mary, in 1677, in a deed in Lancaster county calls
George Woolley “Brother.”  (Edmund Sweeny, died 1698, calls Moore
brother,) Issue of Captain Moore (3); John, Edward, Mecrritt, Danicl,
Martha, married Dixon, Ann, William and Augustine. Of these, Daniel
Moore (4) lived in York county, married first, Elizabeth, daughter of
James Sclater, second, Mary, davghter of Anthony Watts and widow of
John Lewellin, third, Mary Kerby, widow of Anthony Robinson, Jr. Daniel
Moore died in 1767, and his widow, Mary, and son, Augustine, lived at
the “Temple Farm" York county and were there at the time of the sur-
render of Lord Cornwallis.”

Referefice to records in the State Land Office shows that a John
Moorel? patented, July 3, 1635 (not 1638), 200 acres {(not 285 acres) in
FEiizabeth City county, on the Little Poguoson adjoiming Thomas Boulding
and Thomas Garnett, and running south into the woods towards the lhwead

1W. & M, C. Q. vol. 17 (Tuly, 1808), p. F3. ™

188tate Land Office, Richmond, Va., Patent Bonk 3, p. 201

17Torrence, Clayvton: “Virginia Wllls and Administrators, 4632-
1800, Richmond, 1931. P

1AW, & M. C. Q. vol, 9 (Oct, 1900), n, 126,

185tate Land Office, Rlchmond, Va. Patent Book 1, Part 1, p. 202

*Page 762, this volume,
=:8ee Volume V of this work, p. 656.
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of Broad Creek, and that Augustine Moore2?® patented, June 19, 1676, 285
acres in Elizaheth City county, at the head of the Little Pogyroson creck,
200 acres of which land was granted to John Moore, father of the said
Augustine Moore, by patent dated July 3, 1635 and the other 85 acres
found within the bounds of the aforementioned tract, A patent for 200
acres in Elizabeth City county was granted in 1638 fo a Joseph Moore
(not John Moore), and evidently the author confused the two.

Another note, seemingly on this Moore family, is comtained in a foot-
note accompattying the article on “Templc IFarm,” previously referred?t
to, which note reads as follows:

“Augustine Moore, patent June 29, 1652, headrights, Ame his wife,
Augustine (2) his son, Capt. Augustine Moore (2} lived in the “Old Po-
coson” precinct in Elizabeth City county, of which he was Justice, High
Sheriff, &c., in 1697, prohably the son mentioned in the patent above (June
29, 1652). Daniel (3), probably the son of Auvgustine (2), lived in the
“New Pocoson” in York county, was Justice, Sheriff, &c, will proved 16
Mch,, 1767, m. first, Elizabeth, d. of James Sclater (asd Mary Sclater),
son of Rev. James Sclater; issue:

1. Mary, b. Qet. 27, 1729, w. pr. 19 Apr, 1790,
m. Edmund Tabb (w, pr. 15 Mch, 1762}, who had
Elizabeth, m. — Smith (issue:
Augustine and Fanny, m. — Powell).

I1. Augustine, b. March 6, 1731, w. pr. 15 Sept., 1788.
III. Martha, b, May 1734, m, — Sweny.

Daniel Moore, married, 2nd, Mary, daughter of John Lewellin, who sur-
vived him.”

There are several apparent discrepancies in the two notes on the
Moore Family quoted above, but none except one of any particular im-
portance, In one note Augustine Moore, son of John Moore, of Eliza-
beth City county, patents land in 1670, and in the other an Augustine Moore,
seemingly thc same Augustine, patents land in 1652. The patent granted
Augustine Moore in 1676 was for the same land on Little Poquoson in
Elizabeth City county granted his father, John Moore, in 1635, and this
certainly places this Augustine. ‘The patent granted Augustine Moore in
1652 was for 650 acres of land on the north-east side of Peayanketank
river,22 in what was then Lancaster county, now Middlesex. And, among
the thirteen headrights, all named in the rccord, are the patentee’s own
name, Augustine, and also the name of lis wife, Annc, and of his somn,
Augustine, Junior, so that it scems likely that this is another Augustine’
Moore, who bad just come to Virginia, though from what follows in the
text of the note just guoted it would appear that Doctor Tyler, who made
this note, thought that the two Augustines were one and the same petsen.
Also, in one note Daniel Moore is credited with three wives, in the other
with only two, and in one Daniel’s second wife is the widow of John
Lewellin, in the other she is John Lewellins daughter.

The records in the State Land Office show a number of patents issued
in the early days of the Colony to persons nmamed Moore or More, but
only three others in Elizabeth City county, in addition to those previously
mentioned, two to Joseph Moore,?® each for 200 acres on the old Poquo-
son river, one in 1636, the other in 1638, and the other to William Moore,?+

20State Land Office, Richmond, Va., Patent Book §, p. 614,

213ee foptnote No. 11,

228tate Land Office, Richmond, Va., Patent Book 3, p. 203,

zaState Land Offce, Richmond, Va., Patent Book 1, Part 1, p. 357, and
®atent Book 1, Part 2, p. 594.

*48tate Land Office, Richmond, Va. Patent Book 4, p. 50.

783



son of Joscph, in 1656, for 200 actes previously assigned to his father.
Joseph may or may not have been related to John, It is immaterial.
There were a number of other patents issued in the pame of John Moore,
oF More, particularly o Jolin More i Iste—of "W whisse Grst paloit
was gramed in L'cbruary, 1032 116 Wwas_ovidently a wealthy man, was

was glabtrct
a member of The Fouse of DBurgesses, amd was undod ii-

TVidiE 3] _d’%lr_ggg:mf%‘_mﬁm?.’ Jobn More in
Tsle of Wight, and Augustine More in K ‘mg__'_&Tl‘lTa_Wﬂ__nJr € by all odds
e woatttiiest and The most promincnt of the carly Moores in_ Virginig
e Tatter was granted Tis hrst parent i 1723, thooghi Tie winst have been
in Virginia prior to that. Augustine is a frequently encountered given
name among the Moores or Mores of that period, and, as Dortor Tyler
says, they may all have had a common ancestor, and, therefore, have been
related, though possibly remotely in some instances. Certainly Augustine,
of King William, was a very different type of man from the Moores of
York and Elizabeth City counties.

Both the “Moore Family” notes in the William and Mary College
Cuarterly, October, 1900, and in Mrs. Key's article in_the “Raltimare
Sun,” May 27, 1906, give the same names to the cight children of Augus-
tine Moore (3) and Mary Woolley Moore, of Elizabeth City county.® And
the will of Augustine “More” (spelled with one “¢”), which will was
written in 1736 and admitted to probate in 1737, mentions 2 mumber of
these children, namely, a brother John, a brother Merritt, a brother Daniel,
a sister Martha Dixon, and a brother William, who is said to be “de-
ceased,” all of whom are mentioned in the Quarterly articie, and in Mrs.
Keys' Article, as names of the children of Augustine (3) and Mary Wool-
ley’ Moore, but the will does not mention Edward or Ann, pames of other
children of Augustine (3), and Mary Woolley Moore, mentioned both in
the Quarterly article, and in Mrs. Keys' article. Mrs. Ritchey had assumed
that William Moore, the father of Jeremiah, was the son of Augustine
Moore (3), but naturally, this William (4), who was dead in 1736 when
the will was written could not have been the father of Jererniah who was
born in 1746.

Augustine “More” (4} in his will mentions two children of this brother
William (4), an Augostine (5), and an Elizabeth (5), but he docs not men-
tion a William (5}, or a Danicl (5), or any other child of his brother
William (4), or a child of any of his other brothers or sisters, though
his brother Daniel had three children living at this time, and Augustine
(4) may have had other nephews and nieces also living in 1735, The will
of William Moore (4) is not in the Clerk’s office in Hampton.

Euzaperd City Couwry.

There are, however, in the Clerk’s office in Hampton photostat copies
of five other Moore wills of the period between 1700 and 1800, If other
Moore wills of this period or prior thereto had been on file there, they
were destroyed or carried off during the War between the States, when
many records were lost. The five other Moore wills prior to 1800, in

the Photostat books in the Clerk's office in Hampton are: -
John Moore dated Sept. 13, 1762, proved 1762, recorded on
page 165,
Anne Moore dated 1767, proved 1768, recorded on page 194.
Amm Moore dated 1767, proved 1768, recorded on page 196.
Augustine Moore dated Nov. 9, 1793, proved Jan. 26, 1795, recorded
on page 436,

Merritt Moore  dated 1798, proved 1798, recorded on page 530.

#S8ee Volume V of this work, p, 656,
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In the will of John Moare, dated Sept. 13, 1762;
Ann, a daughter Elizabeth, and a nephe\l:r Augustiri alr)itm:
and no nephew William, Since Augustine “More,” who dj
a brother John and at least two nephews named August
( Augustine ihe son of his brother William, and Augusth.tc the ;
brother Daniel), it is likely, but not certain, that this John whg“(i?|f his
1762, was the brother of the Augustine, who died in 1737, el In
e two wills, one signed Anne, the other Ann M
and proved in 1768, are practically the same in substa?:::?’aszu;:ggatlggrlm
to have been written by the same person.  In these two wills are me ‘}md
certain sisters, but no children.  This Ann may have been the wi(cn I{mtd
John Moore, who dicd in 1762, This John Meore's wife was namf:dDA’:he

In Augustine Moove's will, dated Nov. 9, 1793, are mentioned his t;n. )
Ann, sons William, Augustine, Merritt and John, daughters Ann and }“e' ;
and a son-in-law, George Booker, husband of Jane, This Augusti ane, 4
probably the nephew of the Augustine “More” who died in 173;7ne 1; z
the son of this Auvgusting’s brother William. Augustine’s eldest son va
named V‘{:lllam, presumably for his grandfather, the next son Auguat‘?as
his father's and a family name, and the next two sons, Merritt and _]fol[s,m’
also Elizabeth City county Moore family names. Augustine died in 1792'
s0 if he was the nephew of the Augustine who died in 1737, he was in
all probability only a boy at that time, but at that he might have had iy
brother William who could have been the father of Jeremiah in 1746. #

This Augustine Moore’s will was recorded jan. 26, 1795, by “Merritt
Moore, Clk,” who wrote a very scholarly hand, His grandfather, Capt
Augustine Moore (3'), according to Doctor Tyler,2 was alive in 1697.
This Captain Augustine’s father Augustine Moore (2), son of John who
came to Virginia in 1620 at the age of thirty-six, died before 168830
Chronologicaily it is possible for William who was dead in 1736 to have
been borr_z carly enough to have had a son who could have been the father
of Jeremiah in 1746, but this is doubtful, The Augustine (4}, whe died
in 1737, leit his seal ring and snuff box and_silver spoons to his nephew
Aggustmc. The Augustine, who died in 1795 does not mention "these
things. Hec may have given them to his sons before his death, or they may
]'navc been jost or he may never have had them. Augustine (4) who died
in 1737 left a considerable estatc. He left land to both his nephew and
niece, and made bequests to each of threc brothers and a sister. His
brother Mgrnlt was made residuary legatee and was appointed executor,

The will of the Merritt Moore, who died in 1798, was witnessed by
Augustine Moore, Jr, evidently the son of the Auvgustine who died in
1795, and by Ann — Moore, probably the sister or the mother of Augus-
tine Jr. (The name “Ann” occurs frequently among these Moores. They
were evidently much given, too, to using family names for their childten),
This Mernt_t Moore could hardly have been the brother of Augustine Moore
(4), who died in 1737. He must have belonged to the succeeding genera-
tion, He may have been the son of Augustine, who died in 1795, This
Augustine had a son named Merritt.

The will of Daniel Moore, brother of the Augustine who died in
1737, was proved in York county, March 16, 1767.27 This Daniel lived in
the “New Pocoson” district in York county, just across the line from the
“Old Pocoson™ district in Elizabeth City county, where his ancestor had
settled, and when his brother, Augustine, wrote his will in 1737, Daniel
had then been married for at least eight years, for he had a daughter

ntioted 3 wife,
o son Witliam,
cd in 1737 had
ing, then iy

Mary, born QOct. 27, 1729, Daniel's only son, Augustine, married Lucy

2BW. & M C Q. vol 2, p. 14,
26W. & M, C. Q., voL. 9, p. 126, (Volume V of this work, p. 656.}
27York county Records, Wills and Indentures, vel. XXI, p. 8$23.
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Smith, and in 1769, two vears after the death of his father, Augustine
bought the “Temple Farm”?* from his wife’s brother, Robert Stmith, for
1200 pounds.

This Augustine died in 1788 without issue, and left the “Temple Farm”
to his “Ever worthy friend, Gen. Thomas Nelson,” subject to the life estate
of his wife. General Nelson, by his will, proved Feb. 16, 1789, devised the
reversion in fee subject to the lile estate of Mrs. Lucy Moore, in the said
tract of land, to his son, Hugh Nelson?® Bishop Meade was therefore
mistaken when he stated in his “Old Churches, Ministers and Families of
Virginia,"3? that the place had once belonged to Governor Spotswood and
that Governor Spotswood was buried there, and that the name, “Moore”
house, arose from the fact that Bernard Moore, son of Augustine More, of
“Chelsea,” and son-in-law of Governor Spotswood, was living there at
the time of Cornwallis’ surrender. Robert Smith, from whom Augustine
Moore bought, inherited the place from bis father, Col. Lawrence Smith,
it whose family it had been since 1686. It was probally called “Temple
Farm” because of the ruins of old York church in the garden.

There were recorded just subsequent to 1800 in the Elizabcth City
county Clerk's office the following Moore wills:

. l%r;n Moore, Feb. 9, 1801, probably the wife of Augustine, who died
in .
1795_]01111 Moore, April 26, 1803, probably son of Augustine, who died in
. l%tsxg'ustine Moore, Jan. 31, 1822, probably son of Augustine, who died
in X

This clears up the Moores of this period in Elizabeth City county so
far as the wills in the Clerk's office are concerned. There may be land
records or other papers recorded there that will aid in throwing light on
this subject. The sons of Augustine (3}, John (4}, Daniel (4), and Au-
gustine {4), have been eliminated as possible progenitors of Jeremiah,
There remzin William (4), who has not been entirely eliminated, Edward
(4) and Merritt (4), one of whom might have had a son, William (5),
who might have been the father of Jeremiah, but about whose children
nothing is kmown.

Sotne of this family moved to York county, adjacent to Elizabeth City.
Daniel Moore (4) and his son Auvgustine (5) lived there, as we have
seen, and there are a number of records in the York county Clerk's office
prior to 1800, referring to persons named Moore, but only one that might
have a bearing upon the ancestry of Jeremiah, the will of 2 John Moore,
who died 1 1748, and who had a son William. However, nothing is known
of this William Moore.

Yorx County.

The following wills and other court records, dated prior to 1800 arc at
the present time in the York county Clerk’s office or in the Archives Di-
vision of the Virginia State Library:

1. York county records, vol. IV, 1664-1672, p. 368 (new hook, page
529) in Archives Division, Virginia State Library, Richmond.
James Moore—Will, dated May 27, 1670, proved Dec. 1, 1671, men-
tions his wife (no name given, but on p. 370 in another record her
name is given as Anne), daughter Anne, not yet of age, brother
Alexander, a “Cozen” James Moore, also a Thomas Crichton and
an Elizabeth Chappel. His inventory is recorded Jan, 5, 1671/2,
on p. 377 (new page 543) and shows a fair sized estate for the time,

28Deed acknowledged Febh. 20, 1763 W. & M. C. ., vol. 2, pp. 13-14,
20Yprk county Records, Willa and Indentures, vol. XXIJIL
s0J. P, Lippincott Co., FPhila.,, 1360, vol. 1, pp. 226-28.
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10,

11.

12,

\)“@pca@u;:"

#

is designated Attorney, factor and assignee of Phillipp Foster,

Same (new book, page 547), one John Moore, of London, Merchar‘a#
Surry.

. York county records, vol. V, 1671-1694, p. 10.

Jeffery Moore-——Will, dated Jan. 8, 1671, proved Feh. 25 1672,
directs that he be buried by his wife, Isabell More, in the old orchard
of Sara Overstreet, mentions Thomas Qverstreet, son of John
Overstreet, Jane Grimes, daughter of William Grimes, Mary Rifle,
daughter of John Rifle, Robert Jones, son of Rcbert Jones, widow
"ftacs” (?) widow Morris, and Mr. John Baskeroyle, who ap-
patenily was county clerk. Jeflery Moore speaks of himself as
“Clerke and Reader of the parish.”

. Same, p. 133, Dec. 10, 1675,

Alexander Moote—Administration of estate granted to Anne, his
relict and administratrix. Inventory, p. 149, Dec. 21, 1675, in which
Richard Moore is listed among those owing him money (or to-
baceo). -

. York county records, vol. VI, 1675—1684 (no index) p. Z1J.

Richard Moore mentioned, p. 220—Richard Moore sworn as under
sheriff of the county.

. Same, p. 267, Oct. 11, 1680

Mary Moore—Inventory and appraisement of estate, by George
Hambliton, executor, mentions that Bryan Moore is due eight cows
and a mare.

. D. 0. & Wo—vol. XI, part 2, p. 41&41 _ }]
John Moore—Inventory—amounting to { M—_gptunds—mentions hi

brother, Starboy (or Starkey} Moore.

. Same, p. 424, 1700,

Will of Amy Moore, wife of John Moore, “dowaged” (?) in
Charles parish, York county, mentions: Sons, Charles and Tohn,
daughters, Amy, Elizabeth Mofford, May and Sarah, son-in-law,
Peter Starboy (or Starkey).

0. W. & C—vol. XIV, p. 124, p. 127, 1711/12,

Elizabeth Moore, widow, Deed of Gift, dated Jan. 21, 1711/12,
signs her mark “E”, gives to daugtiter Elizabeth, seven pounds
sterling, when she comes to age of 18, daughter Lucy, the same,
and son John the same, when he reaches the age of 21

0, W. & C.—vol. XVI, part 2, (restored) p. 604, 1729, .
Richard Moore, will dated Oct. 3, 1728, proved 1729, signed with
his mark, mentions wife (no name given) and six daughters, bt
mentions no sons. Joseph Mountfort was one of the witnesses.
Part of this record is obliterated, but it seems clear that no sons
are mentioned.

0. W. & C. vol. XVI, part 2, p. 614, 1729,

Richard Moore, inventory, signed by “Jane h_f[oore," and recorded
July 21, 1729, A small estate—amount not given.

Wills and inventories—wvol. XVIII ({restored) pp. 55-56, 1733.
Starkey Moore—Will, mentions wife Anne, and brother John.
Witnesses: Richard Hurst, Daniel Lamb and Will Parsons.
Inventory, p. 63—Otdered May 18, 1733, reported July 16, 1733,
amounting to 193 pounds.
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Same, p. 178-9, 1734.

Jane Moore, of York, Hampton parish, will, dated Apr. 19, 1733,
proved Feb. 17, 1734, mentions daughter Martha ; kinswoman, Mary
Sor Luray (?), “daughter of my kinsman, Edmund Smith”
Witnesses: W. Cary Brown afid W. Cary,Roads,

On p. 183, is Jane Moore’s inventory, dated March 17, 1734, and
amounting to 102 pounds. '

Same, p. 470, Feh. 19, 1738,

Judith Moore, widow of John Grigs Moore, dec’d, who died with-
out making a will, petitions the Court and is given letters of ad-
ministration.

Sarme, p. 485, 1738.
John Grigs Moore, inventory, dated March 19, 1738, amounting
to 27 pounds.

Same, p. 632, Awg. 18, 1740. On motion of Daniel More, it is
ordered that the negrees of Anthony Robinson, Jr., dec'd, be di-
vided and assigned and one third part given to Danjel More, and
Mary, his wife, Jate the widow of said dec'd, for her dower tlierein,

Same, pp. 682-3, 1740,

John Moore, will, dated Jan. 27, 1740, pr. Feb. 16, 1742, mentions
wife Mary, and “my three children,® William, John and Philmer.
Wife made sole executrix and to give no security &c.

}Vnpesses :Iﬁgllizalbeth Baptisf:i B;t;i[a Ilvllolx;jris, Anne Hill, Jones
rwin, p. —Inventory ordere arc

Sam’l Reade and Tohn B:{lard. » 1740, upon request of

_gViIII:E aniid Invcntxries, vol. XX, p. 2.

tarkey Moore—Appraisal ordered May 20, 1745; returned Sept,
16, 1745, by Peter Goodwin, Merritt Moore and Edward Tabb, ;ﬁd
amounted to 128 pounds, )

Same, pp. 223-4,

Judith Mooare, of the Parish of Charles, in the County of York.
Will, dated Apr. 17, 1751, probated May 20, 1751, mentions cousin
Mary Hatton, dau. of John Hatton, and Elizabeth Hurst, wife of
Richard Hurst. Witnesses: John Stacey and Thos. Pescud.

P. 227—Appraisal ordered May. 20, 1751; returmed July 13, 1751;
by James Burcher, Thos. Pescud and Thos. Pescud, jr, and
amounted to 43 pounds.

Wills and Inventories, vol. XXI, p. 323.

Daniel Moore, of Charles Parish—Will, dated Feb, 12, 1767, pro-
ba_ted March 16, 1767, mentions son Augustine, dau. Martha Sweny,
wife Mary, and wile and son named exccutors. Witnesses: Eliza-
beth Brody, John Brody and Richard Cary,

Wills and Inventories, vol. XXII, p. 352.

John Moore—Appralsal returned Aug. 19, 1776, amounting to 138
pounds,

Same, p. 361.

Filmer Moore—Appraisal ordered Feb. 19, 1776 and returned Nov.
1B, 1776, amounting to 96 pounds.

Same, p. 522,

Mary Moore—Will, dated Oct. 6, 1781, proved July 15, 1782, men-
tions grandson John Moore and Robert Roberts whe was given
most of her estate. Witnesses: FEdward Wright, William Jones
and John Garrison.
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25.

20.

27

28,

29.

30.

Wills and Inventories, vol. XXIII, p. 95.

Mary Moorc—Appraisal, ordered "Sept. 20, 1785, returned Cect. 18,
1785, by Edward Wright, Benjamin Hansford and Richard Hans-
ford, and amounted to 93 pounds,

Same, p. 121,

Mary Moore (Presumably another person than the preceding).
Appraisal ordered June 19, 1786, rcturned Sept. 18, 1786, by Philip
Dcdn;an, Jio. Dickeson and Thos. Wynne, and amounted to 146
potnds,

Will Book-—vol, XXIII, (1783-1811) p. 163,

Mary Moore, of Charles Parish, will dated Apr. 5, 1774, pr. Sept.
15, 1788, mentions daughter Mary Sweny, and son Anthony Rebin-
son. Wiinesses: Kinde Russell and Sarah Russell.  (Evidently
the third wife and widow of Daniel Moore who died in 1767, and
the stepmother of Augustine Moore who lived at “Temple Farm”).

Will Book, vol. XXIII, p. 164,

Augustine Moore, will dated Nov. 8, 1787, (codicil dated July 20,
178R), pr. Sept. 15, 1788, Mentions wife Lucy, sister Mary Tabb
and her three children, Elizabeth, Augustine and Fanny, and his
“worthy friend” General Thomas Nelson, of the town of York.
Witnesses: David Jameson, John Smith and Thomas Smith, (This
is the Augustine Moore who lived at “Temple Farm”),

Same, p. 376,

Merritt Moore, will dated July 6, 1790, pr. Apr. 15, 1793,
Mentions wife Anne, daughter Atmne, sister Robinson, and “sis-
ter’s three children,” Merritt Moore Robinson, Edward Robinson
and Anpe Todd, Witnesses: Robert Sheild, John Randall and
Thotmas Newman.

Same, p. 484.

William Moore, will dated Oct. 29, 1796, pr. July 17, 1797, mentions
san John, wife Franksy, young children, Sally, Merritt, William
and Starkey. Executors: Wife and Edmund Patrick., Witnesses:
Thos. Hunt, Robert Willing and Edmund Patrick.

Same, p. 492

Lucy Moore, will dated Apr. 17, 1797, pr. Oct. 16, 1797, mentions
nieces, Mildred Smith and Lucy Smith, nephews, John, Thomas and
George Smith, and Er, Augustine Smith who is appointed execu-
tor, Witnesses: Wm, Reynolds and Abraham Archer. (This is
probably the widow of Augustine of “Temple Farm™).

The Daniel More mentioned in ftem 16 listed above is obviously Daniel
Moore (4), son of Augustine Moore (3). Mary Moore mentioned in item
26, is this Daniel Moore's (4} widow, his third wife, who after Daniel's
death lived at “Temple Farm" with her stepson, Augustine (5), whose will
is mentioned in item 27,

There may be other Moore records in the York county Clerk's office
that were overlooked by the writer. Many of the books have been
rebound, but some of the records are far from being legible and some of
the books have no index.??

awMr. Holloway, Clerk of York county, says there ls a Jeremiah
Moote, whom he knew, son of & John W. Moere, of York county, and he
thinks this Jeremiah Moore now lives in Norfolk. He says thera are
many Moores In York at the present time, some named Merritt, some
Edward, some Augustine, &c.
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13.

14,

.15,

16,

17.

18,

19.

20.

21.

Same, p. 178-9, 1734,

Jane Moore, of York, Hampton parish, wifl, dated Apr. 19, 1733,
proved Feb. 17, 1734, mentions daughter Martha; kinswoman, Mary
Sot Luray (7}, “daughter of my kinsman, Edmund Smith”
Witnesses : W Cary Brown afld W. Cary.Roads.

On p. 183, is Jane Moore’s inventory, dated March 17, 1734, and
amounting to 102 pounds,

Same, p. 470, Feb. 19, 1738.

Judith N_[oore, widow qf' John Grigs Moore, dec'd, who died with-
out making a will, petitions the Court and is given letters of ad-
ministration.

Same, p. 485, 1738.

Jobn Grigs Moore, inventory, dated March 19, 1738, amounting
to 27 pounds,

Same, p. 632, Aug. 18, 1740. On motion of Danicl More, it is
ordered that the negrces of Anthony Robinson, Jr., dec’d, be di-
vided and as_slgned and one third part given to Daniel More, and
Mary, his wife, late the widow of said dec'd, for her dower therein.

Same, pp. 682-3, 1740

John Moore, wilI‘, dated Jan. 27, 1740, pr. Feb. 16, 1742, mentions

wife Mary, and “my three children,” William, John and Philmer.

Wife made sole executrix and to give no security &c.

;an'nesses:wg}lzalbeth tBamiStci Bé:tﬁa l'ﬁlorris, Anne Hill, Jones
win. p. —IEnventory ordere a 4

Sam’l Reade and John Ballrlard. reht 16, 1740, upon roquest of

Wills and Inventories, vol. XX, p. 2.

Starkey Moore—Appraisal ordered May 20, 1745; returned Sept.
16, 1745, by Peter Goodwin, Merritt Moore and Edward Tabb, and
amounted to 128 pounds. )

Same, pp. 223-4,

Judith Moore, of the Parish of Charles, in the County of York
Will, dated Apr. 17, 1751, probated May 20, 1751, mcnt%ons cousin
M_ary Hatton, dau._of John Hatton, and Elizabeth Huorst, wife of
Richard Hurst. Witnesses: John Stacey and Thos, Pescud,

P. 227—Appraisal ordered May 20, 1751; returned July 15, 1751;
by James Burcher, Thos. Pescud and Thos. Pescud, Jr, and
amounted to 43 pounds.

Wills and Inventories, vol. XXI, p. 323,

Daniel Moore, of Charles Parish—Will, dated Feb. 12, 1767, pro-
bated March 16, 1767, mentions son Augustine, dau. Martha Sweny,

wife Mary, and wife and son named executors. Witnesses: Eliza-}

beth Brody, Jobn Brody and Richard Cary.

Wills and Inventories, vol. XXII, p. 352.

John Moote—Appraisal returned Aug. 19, 1776, amounting to 138
pounds.

Same, p. 361.

Filmer Moore—Appraisal ordered Feb. 19, 1776 and returned MNow.
18, 1776, amounting to 96 pounds.

Same, p, 522,
Mary Moore—Will, dated Oct. 6, 1781, proved July 15, 1782, men-
tions grandson John Moore and Robert Roberts who was given

most of her estate. Witnesses: Edward Wright, William Jones
and John Gatrison.
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24. Wills and Inventories, vol. XXIIIL, p. 95.
Mary Moore—Appraisal, ordered “Sept. 20, 1783, returned Oct. 18,
1785, by Fdward Wright, Renjamin Hansford and Richard Hans-
ford, and amounted to 93 pounds.

25. Same, p. 121.
Mary Moore (Presumably another person than the preceding).
Appraisal ordered Junc 19, 1786, returned Sept. 18, 1786, by Philip
Dedman, Jno. Dickeson and Thos. Wynne, and amounted to 146
pounds.

26, Will Book—vol, XXI, (1783-1811) p. 163.
Mary Moore, of Charles Parish, will dated Apr. 5, 1774, pr. Sept.
15, 1788, mentions daughter Mary Sweny, and son Anthony Robin-
son. Witnesses: Kinde Russell and Sarah Russell. (Evidently
the third wife and widow of Daniel Moore who died in 1767, and
the stepmother of Augustine Moore who lived at “Temple Farm").

27. Will Book, vol. XXIII, p. 164,
Augustine Moore, will dated Nov. 8, 1787, {codicil dated July 20,
1788), pr. Sept, 15, 1788. Mentions wife Lucy, sister Mary Tabb
and her three children, Elizabeth, Augustine and Fanny, and his
“worthy friend” General Thomas Nelson, of the town of York.
Witnesses: David Jameson, John Smith and Thomas Smith. (This
is the Augustine Moore who lived at “Temple Farm™),

28, Same, p. 376.
Merritt Moore, will dated July 6, 1790, pr. Apr. 15, 1793
Mentions wife Anne, daughter Anne, sister Robinson, and sis-
ter’s three children,” Merritt Moore Robinson, Edward Robinson
and Anne Todd, Witnesses: Rabert Sheild, John Randall and
Thomas Newman.

29, Same, p. 484, .
William Moore, will dated Oct. 29, 1796, pr. July 17, 1797, mentions
son John, wife Franksy, young children, Sally, Merritt, William
and Starkey. Executors: Wite and Edmund Patrick. Witnesses:
Thos. Hunt, Robert Willing and Edmund Patrick.

30. Same, p. 492. )
Lucy Moore, will dated Apr. 17, 1797, pr. Oct. 16, 1797, mentions
nmieces, Mildred Smith and Lucy Smith, nephews, John, Thomas and
George Smith, and Tir, Augustine Smith who is appointed execu-
tor. Witnesses: Wm. Reynolds and Abrabam Archer. (This is
probably the widow of Augustine of “Temple Farm”),

The Danicl More mentioned in item 16 listed above is obviously Daniel
Moore (4), son of Augustine Moore (3}. Mary Moore mentioned in item
26, is this Danie]l Moore’s (4) widow, his third wife, who after Daniel's
death lived at “Temple Farm” with her stepson, Augustine {5), whose will
is mentioned in item 27.

There may be other Moore records in the York county Clerk’s office
that were overlooked by the writer.  Many of the books have been
rebound, but some of the records are far from being legible and some of
the books have no index.3!

21Mr. Holloway, Clerk of York county, says there g a Jeremlah
Monre, whom he knew, gson of a John W. Mopore, of York county, and he
thinks this Jeremiah Moore now lives In Norfolk. He saya thers are
many Moores in York at the present time, some named Merritt, some
HEdward, some Augusiine, &e.
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The Register o Charles Parish in York county,?® containing lists of
births from 1648 to 1789 and deaths from 1665 to 1787, was also examined.
It contains the date of birth and date of death of many with the name
of Moore, and gives the names of the parents, but nothing that points to a
relationship to Jeremiah Moore. The Register does not contain a single
entry, hirth or death, of a person with the name of French.

IIL
THE MQORES OF CAROLINA.

Whether the paternal ancestor of Jeremiah Moore originally scttied
in South Carolina, or in Elizabeth City county, Virginia, or came direct
to Prince William or Stafford county, is not definitely known. The
writer was informed many years ago by Miss Bettie Moore, of Berry-
ville, Va. (1844-1930) and also by Mr. A. Moore, Jr, of Berryville {1846
1929), descendants of Jeremiah, that they had understood that Jeremiah
was the son of a William Moore who had come to Virginia from South
Carolina, and that William was the son of John and that there was a
connection somewhere with a Governor of Scuth Carolina. Mr. James M,
Engle (b. 1854) also a descendant of Jeremiah and of the same branch
of the family as Miss Bettie Moore and Mr. A, Moore, Jr, in “A His-
tory of the Engle Family in the Shenandoah Valley and Family Con-
nections,”® says that the father of Jeremial was William, the son of John
Moore who came to America from the northern part of Ireland, and located
in South Carolina and that James Moore, a brother of John, was governor
of South Carolina in the early part of the eighteenth century,

In substantiation of this tradition it is found that a James Moore,
who married Margaret Berringer (daughter by a former marriage of Lady
Margaret Yeamans, of Barbados) seitled in South Carclina and was in
1700 a member of the State Council. Upon the death of Governor Blake,
Sept, 7, 1700, he was chosen by the Council to act as Governor and filled
this office untit June 18, 170234 In another sketch of this James Moore it
is said that he married the widow Lady Margaret Yeamans, herself, but
this appears to be a mistake, It is said®F that this James Moore was born
in Ireland in 1640 and emigrated to South Carolina about 1685, His will
was proved Nov. 6, 1706.3% He had five sons, viz: James, who was Gov-
ernor of South Carolina, 1719-1721, Reger, who became very wealthy, built
“Orton,” and was known as "King Roger,” Maurice, who in 1724 founded
the town of Brunswick, N. C, on the west side of Cape Fear river, Na-
thaniel, and John who married Justina Smith and lived on thé Cape Fear.
In the will of this Justina Moore? proved August 20, 1743, in Philadel-

a2Bell, Langdon Covingtion: "History and Reglsters of Charles Parish,
York county, Virginia,” published by the Virginia State Library Board,
Richmond, 1832, ]

Naote: Torrence {(“Virginla Wills and Adminlstrations 1832 to
1800,” published 1821) lists the following Moote wills in Noriolk county:
John, 1681: ‘Willlam, 1683; Morggon, 1689; and Willlam, 1764, Tor-
rence also liats an Augustine Moore in Northampton In 1665, and an
Edward in Accomac in 1717: and John, 1688; Thomas, 16%6; John, 1704;
George, 1714, in Isle of Wight, and other Moore wills and Inventorles
In other parts of Virginla.

i:!ﬁ'rlw.'s;n.rel.v published In 1808; p. 22. ©Copy in possession of - the
writer.

a4Bouth Carolina Historlerl and Genealogical Magazine, vol. 13, p.
69 and pp. 1656-156, and McCrady, Ed.: History of South Carolina under
the Propristary Governmenti, 1570-171%,

ss“Blographical History of '‘North Carelina from Colonial Times
to the Present,” edited by Samuel A. Ashe, vol. §, pp. 380-381.

té3outh Carolina Hlistorieal and Genealogical Magazine, vol. 25,

. 176,
P 818, . Hist. & Gen. Mag., vol. 22, p. 107,
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phia, where she died while visiting her daughter who was married and
lived there, she describes herself as the relict of John Moore late of Cape
Fear and mentions sons James and John, and daughter Rebecca, but ng
other children.

Whether the elder James had a brother John who had a sor named
William has not been established by documentary proof, but some of Jere.
mial’s descendants were evidently under this impression. Nor is it known
that any of James Moore’s family moved to Virginia. They were an integ-
esting and prominent family, active in South Carolina and North Caroling
politics, and it would seem that their descendants and relatives would have
been so proud of them that the fact would surely have ben handed down,
If Jeremiah had been of this family, Francis, his son, in the sketch of hig
father, published shortly after his death,®® would hardly bave been conteng
to say only that the parents of Jeremiah were “respectable though poor”,
He would probably at least have mentioned these South Carolina, Irish
connections, but Jerecmiah may have been estranged from his parents and :
Francis may have been resentful. . !

There was a William Moore, of "Moore Hall”" in Chester county, !
Pennsylvania, whose father was named John, and who was a prominent :
and conspicuous figure in Chester county.®® This John is said to have
come from England to South Carolina about 1680 and to have been Secre- ;
tary of the Colony of South Carolina. It has also been stated that he was ;
a brother of the first Governor James Moore of South Carolina. He ;
moved to Philadlephia about 1697 and became Col_lectnr of Illje Port of i
Philadelphia, which office he held for sometime, His son William above- :
mentioned was born in Philadelphia May 6, 1699, and died at "Moore j
Hall” May 3¢, 1783.92 William had a number of sons but no son named 1
Jeremiah. This John Moore, father of William Moore of Chester county, i
was clearly from England where he was born about 1658, and was promi- !
nently connected, whereas James Moore, the Governor of South Carolina in
1700, was clearly from Ireland !

It is certain, therefore, that John Moore, Collector of the Pori of
Philadelphia, and father of William of “Moore Hall”, in Chester comty,
was not a brother of Governor James Moore, of South Carolina, and that
William Moore of “Moore Hall” was not the father of Jeremiah Moore
of “Moorefield” in Fairfax county, Virginia. . o

There was znother John Moore in South Carclina at about this time
who had a son named William, but whether this John was a brother ui
Gov. James Moore is not known, This John Moore died in 173§. His
will, dated Jan. 27, 1735, was proved March 15, 1735,42 and mentions hia
wife Rachel, and sons, William and John, and daughters, Anne E!lory,
wife of Thomas Eflory, and Elizabeth. John and Elizabeth were minors.

note No. 1.

::?"::mr;r’g;cﬁ:r, Samuel W,.: “Annals of Phoenixville and its
Vicinity,” Bavis and Fennypackdr, Printers, Phildelphia, 1872, pp.
45-70; and "Historical and Blographlcal Sketches,” Robert A, Tripple,

hila., 1583, . 229-240.
F 40There ﬁ;pa, sketch of thia Willlam Moore's family and descendanta
in “The Life and Correspondence of the Rev, Willlam Smith,” by
Horace Wemyss Smith, Philpdelphia, 1880, vol. 2, pp. 488-5601, and pp.
§41-563: see also Pennsylvania Mag. of Hist. and Blog, vol. 4, p. 377,

#1Appleton’s Cyclopedia of American Blography, vol. 4; “Blographical
History of North Carolina,” edlied by Samuel A Ashe, vol. 8, pp. 380-81;
Conner, R, D. W., “History of North Carglina,” 18189, vol. 1, p. 148 (foot-
note): Waddell, Alfred Moore: "A Historlecal Sketch of‘ the former Town
of Brunswick on tlge Cape I;sgrzgéver," contained in "“A Colenial Officer
and hils Times,”™ 18380, pp. -233. " :

42Revill, Janie: ‘“Abstract of Moore Records of S. C, 1624-1866, i
The State Co., Columbia, 8. C., 1931, p. 13. :
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This John Moore's son William died in 1736,4* so he could not have been
the father of Jeremiah Moore.

Another Carolina possibility is found in a John Moore, of Northampton
county, MNorth Carolina, whose will, dated Sept. I, 1753, was proved in
November, 1753,4% and mentions sons: Mark, John, Isham, W illfam, Na-
thaniel, Richard; and daughter Sarah; and wife Tabitha. Jeremiah named
one of his daughters Tabitha,

Roger Moore of “Orton,” son of the first -Governor James Moore, had
a son named George, who lived at “Moore Fields” on the west side of the
Cape Fear river.#® The name of this plantation, “Moeore Fields,” attracts
attention as being almost identical with the name of Jeremiah's home in
Fairfax county, “Moorefield,” but, of course, there is no connection between
the two places.

A number of men named John Moore settied in South Carolina in
the early days of the Colony, but nowhere has definite, documentary proof
been found to show that the first Governor James Moore had a brother
named John who was in South Carolina with him and whose descendants or
some of them settled later in Virginia or elsewhere. The idea that Jere-
mizh Moore was the son of William Moore who was the son of John
Moore, a brother of the first Governor James Moore of South Carclina is
based purely upon az tradition handed down in the family of one of the
sons of Jeremiah and Lydia Moore, and came to me from three separate
and independent sources. It seems to me to he reliable.

Nowhere in the records have the names of William and Jeremiah
Moore been found associated as father and sonm except in the tax lists of
Lunenburg county,f® and there not until 1772, too latc a day to be re-
ferring to Jeremiah Muaore, of “Mooreficid,” and his father. Had Jere-
miah's ancestors first lived in South Carolina, and migrated from there
to northern Virginia, they may or may not have stopped in Luncnburg
county on their way, but other members of the family may have done so.
According to Torrence4” no will in the name of Moore is recorded in
Lunenburg prior to 1781, and wills recorded later than 1781 would contain
no information bearing upon the ancestry of Jeremiah,

MOORE LAND GRANTS IN VIRGINIA 1633 TO 1776.

There were many persons named John Moore and many named William
Moore living in Virginia in the early days of the Colony. Eightecn named
John and fourteen named William Moore were granted patents for land
prior to 1746, the year of Jeremiah Moore’s birth, and ten named Joha
and six named William took up land in Virginia duting the next thirty
vears. They lived in various parts of the Colony.

LAND PATENTS—Recorded in the State Land Office, Richmond,
in the name of JOHN Moore.

17200 acres in Warwicksqueick (later, Isle of Wight), Mar. 6, 1633, re-
corded in Book 1, p. 127.

200 " on Little Poguoson, in Elizabeth City county, July 3, 1635, re-
corded in Book I, p. 202,

43Webber, Mabel L.: "Moore of St. Thomas' Parish,” South Carolina
Hiat. and Genealogical Mag., vol, 27, pp. 156-168,

44Grimen, J. Bryan: "“Abatract of North Carcolina Wills, complled
from criginal and recorded willa In the ofliice of thoe Secretary of State,”
Raleigh, 1110,

#wSprunt, James: "“Chronleles of tho Cnpe Fonrr lver, Znd Kd,, 1216,
n, 63-70; Datlle, Kemp I "Letters & documants relatlng 1o the enrly
Elstory of the Lower Cape Fear,” 1903, pp. 6-7, S. C. Hist. & Gen. Mag,,
vol. 30, pp. 11-12 (note).’

stHell, Landon ©.; "Sunlight on the Southside—Liats of Tithes, Lun-

enburg county, Va,, 17T48-178%," George 8. Ferguson Co., Phila, 1931,
478¢e footnote No. 17,
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v 900 in Warrasquiocke, Oct. 25, 1635, recorded in Book I, p. 291,

v 550 " in Isle of Wight, Oct. 10, 1637, recorded in Book 1, p. 509,

2 200 “ in James City Co., Chickahominy river, Sept. 4, 1638, recorded

- in Book 1, p. 596, .

' 400 Y on Narrasquibo river, Nov. 2, 1638, recorded in Book 1, p. 613.

v 2250 *  in Isle of Wight Co., Nov. 20, 1742, recorded in Book 1, p. 860.

2300 * on W. Br, Mansemond river, Mar, 11, 1664, recorded i Book

! 5 p. 210.

30 " in Islefl of Wight Co., Apr. 23, 1681, recorded in Book 7, p. 68.

1356 {Broken tand and sand banks), Apr. 20, 1682, recorded in
Book 7, p. 192, .

490 * in Isle of Wight Co., Apr. 20, 1682, recorded in Book 7, p. 164,
481 " in Nansemond Co., Nov. 7, 1700, recorded in Beok 9, p. 281
97 * {n Nansemond Co., Qct. 20, 1704, recorded in Dook 9, p. 637.

«130 % in Surcy Co., Mar. 23, 1715, recorded in Book 10, p. 262,

15 “  in Nansemond Co., July 15, 1716, recorded in Book 10, p. 333.
175 “  in Amelia Co., July 21, 1738, recorded in Book 18, p. 54,

400 * in Henrico Co., Aug. 20, 1745, recorded in Book 22, p. 407,
170 “  in Brunswick Co., Aug. 28, 1746, recorded in Book 24, p. 369.
200 “ in Goochland Co., June 5, 1747, recorded in Book 23, p. 620.
243 *  in Brunswick Co., July 25, 1749, recorded in Book 27, p. 284
150 “ in Albemarle Co, July 12, 1750, recorded in Book 29, p. 245,
BOO “ in Albemarle Co, June 1, 1750, recorded in Book 30, p. 108.
76 * in Brunswick Co., July 12, 1750, recorded in Book 30, p. 208.
370 “ in Albemarle Co., Aug. 15, 1764, recorded in Book 36, p. 643.
390 * in Halifax Co., Sept. 16, 1765, recorded in Book 36, p. 885.
400 “ in Louisa Co., July 14, 1769, recorded in Book 38, p. 663,
124 % in Albemarle Co., July 14, 1769, recorded in Book 38, p. 783.

66 “ in Halifax Co., July 5, 1774, recorded in Book 42, p. 703.

LAND PATENTS--Recorded in the State Land Office, Richmond,
in the name of WILLIAM Moore.

00 acres in Timberneck, .

3 5. side Rappahannock river, Qct. 17, 1649, recorded Book
2, p. 194, )

300 “ on S, l:'Br. Nansemond river, Dec. 6, 1652, recorded in Book 3,
p. 141

200 ¥ on Old Poguoson, .
in Elizabeth City county, Mar. 25, 1656, recorded in Book

4, p. 50. .

800 “ in Nansemond Co., Apr. 20, 1670, recorded in Book 6, p. 311,

400 “ in Nansemond Co., Dec. 16, 1673, recorded in Book 6, p. 504.

200 * in Lower Norfolk Co.,, Oct. 21, 1684, recorded in Book 7, p- 428.

400 " in Princess Anne Co., Oct. 25, 1695, re_corded in Book 9, p. 3L

92 * in Surry Co., Mar. 23, 1715, recorded in Book 10, p. 277.

100 " in Princess Anne Co., Nov. 13, 1721, recorded in Book 11, p.
68,

" H B C . )
300 - %?nsrilc;:: Agpomattock river, Aug. 17, 1725, recorded in Book
12, p. 239. )
380 " in Spofsylvania Co,, Sept. 27, 1729, recorded in Book 14, p.

362.
400 “ in Goochland Co., Sept. 22, 1739, recorded in Book 18, p. 479.

35 % in Prince Genrge Co,, Oct. 15, 1741, recorded in Book 20, p. 73.

;;2 " :: Orrl:;(g:e ‘(c:c;.FMar. 15, 1744, recorded in Book 22, p. 212,

45 in Henrico Co., July 5, 1751, recorded in Book 30, p. 455.

7 o in Sussex Co., July 10, 1755, recorded in Rook 31, p. 484,
703




400 : in Prince George Co., Sept. 10, 1755, recorded in Baok 31, p. 618.
400  in Albemarle Co., Aug. 16, 1756, recorded in Book 33, p. 312.
190 coin Lunenburg Co,, Mar, 3, 1760, recorded in Book 33, p, 742.
80 in Augusta Co., June 27, 1764, recorded in Book 36, p. 557.

Among other persens named Moore, with other given names, who
were granted land in various parts of Virginia, were: Aaron, Augustine,
glhdt,EBamaI;‘as, P.:ryzga:: Casonl_.I Dizm'.}:I Edmund, Edward, Epaphroditus,

pes, Lppes, Francis, George, Henry, Hugh, Jacob, James, Joseph, Lam-
bath, Mark, Martin, Mary, Morgan, Patrick, Pefham, Richard, Roger,
Samuel, Seth and Thomas Moose. There was found no grant to a Jere-

miah Moote, and none fo a single individual named French,

IV.
FRENCH FAMILY NOTES.

. Whether or not the mother of Jeremiah Moore, of "Moorefietd,” in
Fairfax county, Vitginia, was named Angelina French there must have
been some close family relationship between his family and some family
named French, for he named his eldest daughter Angelina French and two
other daughters Elizabeth French and Margaret French and one of his
sons Willlam French, and the name “French” was handed down in the
given mames of the children for several generations,

Jeremiab was born in 1746 in Prince William county, Virginia,*® in or
near the town of Dumiries, on Quantico river near the point where the
Quantico_empties into the Potomac river. Both the town and Quantico
river at Dumiries are insignificant in the present day, but from about 1750
to 1770 Dumiries was an important town, the county scat of Prince William
and a port from which much tobacco was shipped, and the Quantico was
broad and deep enough for sailing vessels, mainly from Scotland, to comne
up to the town. Jeremiah Moore was married in 1763 to Lydia Renne,
daughter of Francis Renno,*® of a Huguenot family that had come to Prince
William in 16883% Jeremiah and his wife lived for a tithe in or near
Dundries, for prior to 1772 Jeremiah was for a time a lay reader in the
Episcopal Church on Quantico near Dumlries®! and must have been living
near by in order to have attended to his Charch duties. In 1773, he was
living in Fairfax county on Difficult Run. After 1789 he moved to “More-
field,” near Vienna, also in Fairfax, and continued there to his death in
1815. He seems to have been fairly well-to-do.

There is not a single land patent recorded in the State Land Oifice
in Richmond under the name of French, The French family, or families,
seem to have settled primarily in the Northern Neck, in the part of Virginia
that had been given to Lord Fairfax's family, and they had to buy from
him or from earlier settlers wheo bad bought from him. Deeds for this
property were recorded in the counties. Some of the French families were
guite well-to-do,

saMocre, Francla: “Sketch of the Life of Jereminh Moore,” published
In the ‘Latter Day Luminary,” Philn, 1318, vol. 1, pp. 518-620.

#1The will of Francld Benne, of Prinece Willlam county, dated Cct. 48,
1;91, proved Oct. 2, 1797, Prince Willlam county record, Will Book H, p.
224

soPrince Willlam county recordn, Minute Bool, 1762-63, p. 174. Thias
book I8 kept In the bottom part of an old cupbonrrd In a emall room back
of the Clerk’s office in the Court House In Manassas, Va,

s1Meade, Blishop Willlam: *01d Churches, Minlsters and Famliles
of Virginia,” J. P, Lippincott & Co., Fhila, 1867, vol. 2, p. 215
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'_The following wills and inventories in the name of French are listed
by Torrence’2 as having been recorded prior to 1800 in the counties in-

dicated :
Essex county Robert French 1743 will.
Fairfax Daniel 1749 *
Daniel 1772
Frederick John 1750 “
Hampshire James 1773 "
Henrico Seath 1740 “
King George Margaret 1749 inventory.
Hugh 1770 administration,
Powhatan Thomas 1785 inventory.
Princess Anne Thomas 1735 *
Prince William Daniel 1736 “
James 1743 witl,
Richmond Hugh 1701 ~
Stafford Hugh 1737 ¢
Hugh, Jr. 1740 *
Anglef? 1744 inventory,
Mason 1752 will.
Daniel 1756 ¢
Surry Samuel 1730 inventory.
Westmoreland Mason 1746 *
Daniel 1756 “
Catherine 1759~

The above list shows that the eartiest French will recorded in Virginia,
or at least now on record and available for examination, is the will of I‘-Iugh
French, of Richmond county, proved in 1701. This will is also mentioncd
in an article in the William and Mary College Quarterly,"® wherein this
Hugh French is referred to as Hugh French of the parish of 5t. Mary's,
Richmond county. ) .

His will dated June 20, 1700, proved Dec. 3, 1701, is recorded in the
Clerk's office in the Court House in Warsaw, in Will Book 2, on page 3,
He names his wife, Margaret, his sons Hugh, Daniel and Mason, and
daughters, Mary and Margaret. After his death his widow, Margaret,
married John Somerville, and in September, 1705, his son Hugh, who is
said to have been then over sixteen years of age, petitioned the Court, it
is said in the article above mentioned, but for what reason is not stated
in the article. .

In this same article in the Quarterly is mentioned also Daniel French,
of King George county, who died in 1736, leaving a will, of which his
brother, Hugh French was executor, There are no Will Books in King
George county prior to 1752, but in King George Order Book No, 2, cov-
ering the years 1735 to 1751, on page 62, at a Court held April 2, 1736, is
the following statement:

“The last will and testament of Daniel French, dec’d, being
produced by Hugh French, the said Hugh took the Qath of an
Executor, who together with Daniel McCarty acl;npwlgdged their
bond in one thousand pounds for his faithful administering the 'd
estate,”

s2Torrence, Clayton: “Virginia Willg and Administratlons, 1633-
1800, The William BRyrd Press, Richmond, 1331,

baReference to the Tecord showe that this name, which Torrence
rpells, ‘Angle,” lg really “Hugh’' Hee Btaftord county records, ‘Will
Book 1720-1748, p. 404. Fhe word In the record looks vemarkably like
“Angle,” but unquestionably it {s “Hugh.”

54W. & M, C. Q. vol. 12, p. 26%, %

*See Volume It of this work, p. 809,

195




